## SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**CASE NO. 78,244** 

District Court of Appeal Fourth DCA Case No. 90-01639

Florida Bar No. 607071

DAVID MORALES,

Petitioner,

vs.

SPERRY RAND CORPORATION, a foreign corporation no longer in existence, UNISYS CORPORATION, a foreign corporation, FORD MOTOR COMPANY, a foreign corporation, and FORD NEW

HOLLAND COMPANY, a foreign corporation,

Respondents.

\_\_\_\_\_**:** 

# DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

# INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF PETITIONER, DAVID MORALES

#### INTRODUCTION

This brief is submitted on behalf of Petitioner, DAVID MORALES (hereinafter referred to as "MORALES", Appellant/Plaintiff below. The parties will be referred to as they stand before this Court or by proper name. The following symbols are adopted for reference:

"R" for Record on Appeal.

"PB" for Brief of Petitioner.

"A" for Appendix to Initial Brief of Petitioner.

Unless otherwise indicated, all emphasis has been supplied by counsel.

Petitioner, MORALES, invokes this Court's discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal, MORALES v. SPERRY RAND CORP., 578 So.2d 1143 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), certified to be in direct conflict with the Third District case of Berdeaux v. Eagle-Picher Industries, Inc., 575 So.2d 1295 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990), review pending Case No. 77,890 (Fla. 1991). (A.42-45). Subsequently, the Third District case of Schafer v. Schafer, 16 F.L.W. D1746 (Fla. 3d DCA July 2, 1991), review pending Case No. 78,341 (Fla. 1991), also certified conflict with Morales. (A.47,48). The Fifth District relied on Morales in Partin v. Flagler Hospital, Inc., 581 So.2d 240 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), and certified direct conflict with Berdeaux. The Fourth District in Hill v.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> By order dated July 12, 1991, this Court postponed its decision on jurisdiction and ordered briefing on the merits.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Petitioner's Initial Brief was filed on August 23, 1991, and Respondent's Answer Brief is due on September 12, 1991.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Partin has not been appealed.

Hammerman, 16 F.L.W. D1743 (Fla. 4th DCA July 3, 1991), affirmed dismissal relying upon Morales and Hernandez v. Page, 580 So.2d 793 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991). This Court has jurisdiction. Art. V, §3(b)(4), Fla.Const. (1980); Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi).

In <u>Morales</u>, the Fourth District Court of Appeal affirmed the Trial Court's dismissal of the Complaint for serving Defendants on the 124th day after filing the Complaint, where Defendants had been served <u>prior</u> to filing both their Motions to Dismiss, and prior to the hearing on and entry of dismissal. The Third District Court of Appeal in <u>Berdeaux</u> held that an action should not be dismissed for failure to effect service upon a defendant within the 120-day period specified by the procedural rule, if process had been served prior to <u>the filing of defendant's motion to dismiss</u>. The Third District then expanded that rule in <u>Schafer</u>, by holding that an action should not be dismissed for failure to effect service upon defendant within the 120-day period, if process has been served <u>prior to the hearing on and entry of dismissal</u>. Each of these appeals is pending before this Court.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal in <u>Partin</u> followed <u>Morales</u>, noting that the rule should be enforced even though service is effected before the filing of a motion to dismiss. <u>Partin</u>, 581 So.2d at 242. However, the Court <u>refused to apply the rule retroactively</u>, and reversed the trial court's dismissal of the complaint. <u>Id</u>. Both the Third and Second District Courts of Appeal have criticized the effect of the rule in cases such as the instant one, where the defendant was not <u>prejudiced or even inconvenienced</u> by the failure to be served with the complaint, as it had full knowledge of the lawsuit. <u>See</u>, <u>Hernandez</u>, <u>supra</u>, (special concurrence by Judge Schwartz); <u>Greco v. Pedersen</u>, 16 F.L.W. D2123 (Fla. 2d DCA August 9, 1991).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

MORALES, a landscape laborer, brought suit in the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Palm Beach County, Florida, against Respondents, the manufacturers/distributors of a New Holland skid-steer loader, to recover damages for personal injuries sustained by him while riding on the loader. (R.13-17). MORALES alleged in his Complaint that, on August 20, 1985, he was riding upon the back of the skid-steer loader when the rear portion of the support arm for the forwarding bucket came crushing down on him, causing severe injuries. He sued SPERRY RAND CORPORATION (hereinafter referred to as "SPERRY RAND"), UNISYS CORPORATION (hereinafter referred to as "UNISYS"), FORD MOTOR COMPANY (hereinafter referred to as "FORD MOTOR"), and FORD NEW HOLLAND CORPORATION (hereinafter referred to as "FORD NEW HOLLAND"), for breach of implied warranties of merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose; breach of an express warranty; strict liability; and negligent manufacture, construction, design, and failure to warn. Id.

MORALES had filed a lawsuit based on this incident once before in Broward County, through a different attorney. (R.3). That case was DAVID MORALES, Plaintiff, v. SPERRY RAND CORP., Defendant, No. 87-21837-CIV-GARRETT. It was dismissed for failure to prosecute on August 4, 1988. Additionally, there was another action pending in federal court involving subject matter which is a material part of the subject matter of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> SPERRY RAND merged into UNISYS, which became liable for the acts of SPERRY RAND, and its subsidiary or division, Sperry New Holland. (R.13, 13). UNISYS and/or SPERRY RAND then sold the New Holland Division to FORD MOTOR, which now maintains and operates the New Holland Division as FORD NEW HOLLAND, and which has or may have assumed the liabilities of SPERRY RAND and/or UNISYS. (R.13-17).

this proceeding. That case is <u>KEITH FLORY</u>, <u>Plaintiff</u>, v. <u>SPERRY NEW HOLLAND</u> <u>DIVISION OF SPERRY CORP</u>, and <u>UNISYS CORP</u>, <u>Defendants</u>; Case No. 87-6207-CIV-HASTINGS.

In this case, MORALES filed the Complaint on August 27, 1989. Service of process was effected on each Respondent on December 19, 1989, four days after the expiration of the 120-day period, but prior to the first Motion to Dismiss, the second Motion to Dismiss, the Hearing on the Motion, <u>and</u> the entry of dismissal.

Respondents had filed a joint Motion to Dismiss on January 18, 1990, which did <u>not</u> raise the defense of failure to serve process within the time period specified by Rule 1.070(j), Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, or the issue of insufficient process and insufficient service of process. (R.18-20). Additionally, several days later, UNISYS sent MORALES a lengthy Request for Production and Interrogatories.

It was not until January 31, 1990, that UNISYS, SPERRY RAND, FORD MOTOR and FORD NEW HOLLAND, jointly filed their Supplement to Motion to Dismiss, for the first time adding the defenses of failure to serve process within the time period specified by Rule 1.070(j), Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, and of insufficient process and service of process. Following the hearing on the Supplement to Motion to Dismiss, on March 6, 1990, the Trial Court entered an order pursuant to Rule 1.070(j), Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, dismissing the Complaint. (R.24). MORALES moved for rehearing, which was denied, and Final Judgment of Dismissal was entered on June 7, 1990. (R.25,26,41). MORALES then appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal. (R.42,43).

## MORALES appealed on three grounds:

- 1. The Trial Court committed reversible error in dismissing the Complaint and cause where MORALES demonstrated good cause for not serving the summonses within 120 days; service was only four (4) days late; and no prejudice was demonstrated;
- 2. The Trial Court committed reversible error in not finding Respondents had waived the issue of insufficiency of service of process by failing to raise it in the first step they took in the case, and then by participating in discovery; and
- 3. The Trial Court committed reversible error in dismissing the Complaint two and one-half months <u>after</u> service had been effected and the purpose of the rule had been met.

The District Court affirmed dismissal, even though expiration of the statute of limitations barred refiling. MORALES v. SPERRY RAND CORP., 578 So.2d 1143 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991); (A.42). Judge Polen dissented, without opinion. The District Court found that MORALES had failed to demonstrate diligence and good cause for making no effort to obtain service for 110 days after filing of the Complaint, electing to use mail and obtaining executed summonses 10 days before the deadline, and making no effort to serve the Respondents until after the 120-day period had expired. Following the Federal decisions, the Court ruled that lack of prejudice to the Respondents was not relevant, given an absence of diligence on Petitioner's part. The Court recognized that in the recent case of Berdeaux v. Eagle-Picher Industries, Inc., 575 So.2d 1295 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990), the court reached a contrary result by deciding that the rule should not be enforced where service is perfected prior to the filing of a motion to dismiss, and certified conflict with that opinion. (A.44,45).

Petitioner then filed a Motion for Rehearing and Rehearing En Banc in the District Court, which was denied. (A.34-39). Petitioner thereafter timely filed its notice to invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Florida to review the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal on the basis that the decision expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal on the same question of law. The Court postponed its decision on jurisdiction, and ordered the matter briefed on the merits.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

MORALES was injured on August 20, 1985. (R.13). His Complaint was filed on August 27, 1989. MORALES' attorney mailed summonses for service on SPERRY RAND, UNISYS, FORD MOTOR, and FORD NEW HOLLAND to the Clerk of the Court on December 5, 1989. (R.22; A.1). The summonses were issued by the Deputy Clerk on December 8, 1989. (R.22; A.2,4,6,8). The issued summonses were not received by MORALES' attorney until December 19, 1989, or eleven days later. (R.22). That same day or the next, MORALES' attorney had service effected on each Appellee. (R.5,7; A.3,5,7,9).

SPERRY RAND, UNISYS, FORD MOTOR, and FORD NEW HOLLAND were all represented by the same attorney. On January 18, 1990 they filed their joint Motion to Dismiss. (R.18-20). The motion asserted defenses of failure to state a cause of action, allege privity of contract, and allege sufficient ultimate facts. It did <u>not</u> raise the defense of failure to serve process within the time period specified by Rule 1.070(j), Florida Rules

of Civil Procedure, or the issue of insufficient process and insufficient service of process.

Id.

On January 23, 1990, UNISYS sent MORALES a Request for Production. (A.10-15). The Request for Production was six pages long and requested twenty-six items, including seven years of tax returns; records of earnings; all bills for hospitals, physicians, nurses, etc.; the vehicle involved in the lawsuit; all medical reports and records; all statements, correspondence, depositions, or other written materials authorized by SPERRY RAND, UNISYS, FORD MOTOR, or FORD NEW HOLLAND; a recent photograph of MORALES; expert and accident reports; and documents relating to the purchase, maintenance, repair and/or use of the vehicle. <u>Id</u>.

On January 25, 1990, UNISYS sent out its Interrogatories to Plaintiff. (A.16-31). The Interrogatories were sixteen pages long and comprised of twenty-seven questions, including the name, address and telephone number of each person who heard SPERRY RAND, UNISYS, FORD MOTOR or FORD NEW HOLLAND make any statement, remark or comment concerning the accident; general background information on MORALES; information about his medical condition and insurance coverage; details of the accident; expenses incurred and compensation lost as a result of the accident; benefits paid; injuries sustained; a listing of each physician, psychiatrist or psychologist and medical facility who had treated MORALES in the past five years; any non-medical expert witness; all employers for the past five years; the whereabouts of the loader; and any tests or examinations performed on the loader. (A.16-26). UNISYS further requested that MORALES describe each act or omission on the part of UNISYS, SPERRY RAND, FORD

MOTOR, or FORD NEW HOLLAND which constituted negligence, strict liability, or breach of warranty; asked whether MORALES gave notice to any Defendant; and requested specification of express warranties by <u>each</u> Defendant and description of how the product was not merchantable, inherently dangerous and/or defective, with all acts <u>any</u> Defendants did or failed to do. (A.27-30).

On January 31, 1990, UNISYS, SPERRY RAND, FORD MOTOR and FORD NEW HOLLAND, again jointly and through the same attorney, filed their Supplement to Motion to Dismiss, adding the defenses of failure to serve process within the time period specified by Rule 1.070(j), Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, and of insufficient process and service of process. (R.21). On February 9, 1990, MORALES objected to UNISYS's Request for Production. (A.32,33).

Hearing on the Motion to Dismiss was scheduled for March 6, 1990. Before the hearing, MORALES' attorney submitted his Affidavit in Opposition to Motion to Dismiss Regarding Rule 1.070(j), Florida Rules of Civil Procedure. (R.22-23). The Affidavit attested that the summonses on each Defendant were mailed on December 5, 1989, and issued by the Deputy Clerk on December 8th, 1989. (R.22). The issued summonses were not received until December 18 or 19, 1989, and were served on December 19, 1989. (Supra; R.5,7).

At the hearing on the Motion to Dismiss, the attorney for UNISYS, SPERRY RAND, FORD MOTOR, and FORD NEW HOLLAND argued that dismissal is mandatory and that there is <u>no discretion</u> but to dismiss if good cause is not shown. (R.2,3,11). He further

argued that good cause exists if a Defendant is elusive, which did not occur in the instant case. (R.3).

MORALES' attorney informed the Court that he had problems communicating with his client. (R.8). Further, although the summonses were <u>issued</u> within 120 days, there was a delay in returning the summonses to him. (R.6-9). The 120-day period ended on December 15, a Friday. The summonses were actually served on December 19, a Tuesday. (R.5). The corporate resident agent could <u>not</u> have been served on the intervening Saturday and Sunday. (R.7). MORALES' attorney advised the Trial Court that dismissal without prejudice would actually terminate the case because the statute of limitations had run. (R.6,25).

# ISSUES PRESENTED ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

#### **ISSUE A**

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN AFFIRMING DISMISSAL OF THE ACTION FOR EFFECTING SERVICE ON RESPONDENTS ON THE 124TH DAY AFTER FILING, WHERE PROCESS WAS SERVED PRIOR TO BOTH MOTIONS TO DISMISS?

#### **ISSUE B**

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN AFFIRMING DISMISSAL OF THE ACTION WHERE THE RESPONDENTS WAIVED THE ISSUE OF INSUFFICIENCY OF SERVICE OF PROCESS BY FAILING TO RAISE IT IN THEIR FIRST MOTION TO DISMISS, AND THEN BY PARTICIPATING IN DISCOVERY?

#### **ISSUE C**

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT'S INTERPRETATION OF THE RULE ELEVATES THE DEMANDS OF SPEED AND EFFICIENCY IN THE ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE OVER THE SUBSTANTIVE RIGHTS OF THE PARTIES WHICH THE SYSTEM IS IN BUSINESS ONLY TO SERVE?

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In this lawsuit, a severely injured landscape laborer served the four manufacturers/distributors of a New Holland skid-steer loader on the 124th day after filing of the Complaint. At the height of the Christmas holiday season, the issued summonses took eleven days to reach MORALES' attorney's office, whereupon they were served that same day or the next. The four Respondents, UNISYS, SPERRY RAND, FORD MOTOR and FORD NEW HOLLAND, jointly filed their Motion to Dismiss, which did not raise the issue of insufficiency of service of process. (R.18-20). They next took affirmative action in the cause and claimed rights available to parties under the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure when they sent out a Request for Production and Interrogatories, neither of which was coupled with an objection to the jurisdiction of the court over the person. (AB.4,5;A.10-31).

Finally, about six weeks after service had been effected, the four Respondents jointly filed their second Motion to Dismiss, adding the defense of failure to serve process within the time period specified by Rule 1.070(j), Florida Rules of Civil Procedure. (R.21). Following the hearing on that Motion to Dismiss, some two and one-half months after service had been effected, the Trial Court entered an order dismissing the Complaint. (R.24). The statute of limitations barred refiling.

Dismissal of MORALES' Complaint elevates the demands of speed and efficiency in the administration of justice over the substantive rights of the parties which the system is in business only to serve. A strict interpretation of Rule 1.070(j) has caused the dismissal of an action for a 4-day delay in service, even though the parties had already been served; were fully aware of the action; had retained counsel; had failed to raise the issue of insufficiency of service of process in the first step they took in the case; and had participated in discovery. In fact, there had been an earlier incarnation of the same case.

Under the well-reasoned cases of Berdeaux v. Eagle-Picher Industries, Inc., 575 So.2d 1295 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990)(an action should not be dismissed for failure to effect service upon defendants within the 120-day period specified by the procedural rule if process has been served prior to the filing of the motion to dismiss); and Schafer v. Schafer, 16 F.L.W. D1746 (Fla. 3d DCA July 2, 1991)(an action should not be dismissed for failure to effect service upon defendants within the 120-day period if process has been served prior to the hearing on the motion to dismiss), MORALES' Complaint should not have been dismissed. Service was effected prior to both the hearing on the Defendants' Motion to Dismiss and even prior to the Motion to Dismiss itself.

Should this Court choose not to follow the well-reasoned <u>Berdeaux</u> rule as expanded by <u>Schafer</u>, this Court may still reverse because a <u>waiver</u> has occurred. Respondents failed to raise the issue of insufficiency of service of process in the first step they took in the case, and further waived the issue by participating in discovery. This Court should not allow the four Respondents to jump into the litigation, forge ahead with discovery, only to play a game of "gotcha" against MORALES for a highly technical violation of a new rule. The rule was intended to be a useful tool for docket management, and not an instrument of oppression. There has been no suggestion that Respondents were prejudiced or even inconvenienced by the 4-day delay in service of the Complaint.

The purpose of the rule was to speed the cause and get the case moving, not to defeat the cause without a trial on the merits. In the instant case a hypertechnical reading of the rule by the Trial Court and the Fourth District Court of Appeal has done exactly this. Dismissal of MORALES' cause two and one-half months after service had been effected and the purpose of the rule had been met, is contrary to well established Florida law and policy, and has deprived MORALES of his day in court.

### **ARGUMENT**

A. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN AFFIRMING DISMISSAL OF THE ACTION FOR EFFECTING SERVICE ON RESPONDENTS ON THE 124TH DAY AFTER FILING, WHERE PROCESS WAS SERVED PRIOR TO BOTH MOTIONS TO DISMISS.

1. The Operation of Rule 1.070(j) is Analogous to Rule 1.500(c), Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, Wherein a Default May Not be Entered if the Defendant Files its Answer at Any Time Prior to the Proposed Entry of a Default.

This Court should adopt and follow the well-reasoned rule of <u>Berdeaux</u>, as expanded by <u>Schafer</u>, in which the Third District Court of Appeal analogized the operation of Rule 1.070(j), Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, to Rule 1.500(c), wherein a default may not be entered if the defendants files its answer at any time prior to the proposed entry of a default. <u>See</u>, <u>Berdeaux v. Eagle-Picher Industries</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 575 So.2d 1295 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990); <u>Schafer v. Schafer</u>, 16 F.L.W. D1746 (Fla. 3d DCA July 2, 1991). Under this rule, the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision in <u>Morales</u> should be reversed, because Respondents were served prior to both Motions to Dismiss, the hearing on the Motion, and the entry of dismissal.

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