047 w/app

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SEP 23 1991 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By U Chief Deputy Clerk

DAVID MORALES,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 78,244

SPERRY RAND CORPORATION, a foreign corporation, UNISYS CORPORATION, a foreign corporation, FORD MOTOR COMPANY, a foreign corporation, and FORD NEW HOLLAND CORPORATION, a foreign corporation,

Respondents.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF RESPONDENTS,
SPERRY RAND CORPORATION, UNISYS CORPORATION,
FORD MOTOR COMPANY, AND FORD NEW HOLLAND CORPORATION

JEFFREY B. SMAPIRO, ESQ.
JUDY D. SHAPIRO
HERZFELD AND RUBIN
Suite 1801
801 Brickell Avenue
Miami, Florida 33131
(305) 381-7999

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

MORALES' attorney's inexplicable failure to effect service does not establish the requisite "excusable neglect" for setting aside a default. "Failure of the attorney to act with no good reason given," is not "excusable neglect." <u>Id</u>. The failure to serve within the 120-day period is grossly negligent and inexcusable, not even satisfying the minimum standard of "excusable neglect." <u>See Fischer v. Barnett Bank of South Florida, N.A.</u>, 511 So.2d 1087 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987).

MORALES has not yet given any clue of a "clerical or secretarial error, reasonable misunderstanding, or a system gone awry," that may have occurred. Conclusory statements, unsupported by record evidence, has never been held to constitute excusable neglect, much less good cause.

MORALES concedes, on page 18 of his Brief, that an attorney's "simply forgetting" and/or "intentionally" ignoring "the necessity to take appropriate action" would not justify setting aside a default. Yet, at the hearing MORALES' attorney, knowing the time constraints imposed by Rule 1.070(j), stated that he chose not to have summonses issued earlier. Clearly, this conduct falls within that category that would not support an "excusable neglect" finding. Knowingly disregarding this Court's rules has never been held to constitute "excusable neglect."

F. THERE IS NO REASON TO CONSTRUE RULE 1.070(j) LIKE RULE 1.500.

MORALES asks this Court to construe Rule 1.070(j) in a manner akin to that of Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.500, regarding defaults, as was done by the Third District Court of Appeal in <u>Berdeaux</u>, <u>supra</u>. However, it is respectfully submitted that there is no rational basis for doing so. Rule 1.500(c), by its very terms, allows a party to plead at any time before a default is entered. There is no requirement in Rule 1.500 that a defendant show good cause for failure to timely plead.

However, Rule 1.070(j) does not state that a plaintiff may effect service at any time before a motion to dismiss is filed and/or a hearing is held thereon. More important, if service, no matter how untimely, is acceptable as long as it is effected before a hearing on a motion to dismiss, the "good cause" and 120 day requirements of Rule 1.070(j) become "mere surplusage." Presumably, this Court did not adopt Rule 1.070(j) only to have it totally ignored.

Certainly, if a defendant can be forced to plead within 20 days, a plaintiff can be compelled to accomplish the relatively easy task of service within 120 days. Since a defendant is required to show both excusable neglect and an affirmative defense before setting aside a default, it seems not too much to require the plaintiff to show good cause for untimely service.

It is respectfully submitted that there is no justification for construing Rule 1.070(j) in a manner similar to Rule 1.500. Presumably, had this Court intended that Rule 1.070(j) not allow

for dismissals where service is effected prior to a hearing on a motion to dismiss, the rule would have said just that. To the contrary, Rule 1.070(j) requires a dismissal, if service is not made within 120 days, absent good cause.

Protestations that the Fourth District's interpretation of Rule 1.070(j) is unjust, cannot pass muster. A defendant suffers a default if he does not answer within 20 days after being served. It is, therefore, not unreasonable to suggest that a plaintiff, who does not effect service within 120 days, should suffer the consequences of a dismissal.

G. RULE 1.070(j) REQUIRES SERVICE TO BE MADE WITHIN 120 DAYS, NOT 124 DAYS.

MORALES attempts to persuade this Court that the dismissal should be reversed because there was only a "mere four-day delay."²¹ It is noteworthy that Rule 1.070(j) requires service within 120 days, not 124 days. Later service is irrelevant unless the plaintiff can show good cause for not serving within the 120 days allotted. Quann v. Whitegate-Edgewater, 112 F.R.D. 649 (D. Md. 1986).

In <u>Putnam v. Morris</u>, 833 F.2d 903 (10th Cir. 1987), an action was dismissed where service was made <u>123</u> days after filing the complaint, where good cause was not shown; in <u>Davis-Wilson v. Hilton Hotel Corp.</u>, 106 F.R.D. 505 (E.D. La. 1985), an action was dismissed where service was made 125 days after filing the complaint; and in <u>Green v. Humphrey Elevator & Truck Co.</u>, 816 F.2d

²¹Perhaps MORALES would make the same argument regarding missing a statute of limitations by 4 days.

877 (3d Cir. 1987), an action was dismissed where service was made 124 days after the complaint was filed.

Implicit in the Court's reasoning was the primacy of the 120-day time limit; to be effective, service, by whatever means, must be completed <u>within</u> the 120 days period. <u>Id</u>. at 882.

Presumably, time limits were placed in the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure to establish deadlines, not to establish the "vicinity" within which something must be done. Rule 1.070(j) does not state that a plaintiff must effect service as close to 120 days as possible. The Rules governing Florida civil procedure are not like the rules in a game of horseshoes, <u>i.e.</u>, "close" is not good enough.

H. RULE 1.070(j) HAS NOT DEPRIVED MORALES OF HIS RIGHT OF ACCESS TO THE COURTS.

MORALES arques that he is being deprived of his constitutionally-protected right of access to the courts, by the Rule 1.070(j) dismissal. Rule 1.070(j) does not deprive MORALES of his right of access to the courts, any more than a statute of limitation and/or dismissal for failure to prosecute would. 22 The constitutional quarantee of access to the courts does not mean that a plaintiff, who carelessly allows the 120 days to expire without effecting service, is protected from dismissal. The constitutional guarantee does not mean that a plaintiff may ignore the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure. The courts of this state were open to MORALES.

²²If MORALES' argument is accepted, the Florida Appellate Rules, setting forth the times for taking appeals would also violate a right of access to the courts.

The "deprivation," if any, is attributable to MORALES and his attorney, no one else. MORALES has filed two lawsuits. The first was dismissed for failure to prosecute. The second, the case at bar, was dismissed for failure to effect timely service. MORALES was not denied access to the courts. Having opened the door to the courts on two separate occasions, MORALES failed to enter the judicial system as a complying participant. Stated simply, MORALES twice slammed the judicial door in his own face. MORALES can blame only himself and his attorney if the judicial doors are now locked to him.

II.

MORALES HAS WAIVED ANY ISSUES NOT PRESENTED TO THE TRIAL COURT.

In his Brief, MORALES presents issues to this Court which were never submitted to the trial court for consideration. These issues include: 1) that the four RESPONDENTS waived the right to seek a Rule 1.070(j) dismissal because one RESPONDENT, UNISYS CORPORATION, propounded discovery after the initial Motion to Dismiss was filed; 2) that all RESPONDENTS waived the right to seek a Rule 1.070(j) dismissal by not raising the untimeliness of service until the Supplemental Motion to Dismiss (served only 13 days after the Initial Motion to Dismiss was served); 3) that a Rule 1.070(j) dismissal was improper because: A) RESPONDENTS suffered no prejudice from late service, and B) RESPONDENT had notice of the instant lawsuit (no evidence, whatsoever, regarding lack of prejudice and/or notice was ever presented; and 4) that Rule

1.070(j) is an unconstitutional deprivation of MORALES' right of access to the courts.

It is axiomatic that an appellate court cannot consider issues not presented to the trial judge, regardless of whether the appeal involves an order of dismissal or a final judgment on the merits. Dober v. Worrell, 401 So.2d 1322 (Fla. 1981). Since MORALES did not present these arguments to the trial court, he cannot do so now. Therefore, it is respectfully submitted that this Court should not consider Issue B presented by MORALES, in his Brief, as well as any other statements pertaining to any of the above issues.

The record is devoid of a single fact which would indicate that this question was ever before the trial court. It is a rule of long standing that on appeal the Court will confine itself to a review of those questions, and only those questions, which were before the trial court. Matters not presented to the trial court by the pleadings or ruled upon by the trial court will not be considered by this Court on appeal. Lipe v. Miami, 141 So.2d 738, 743 (Fla. 1962). (Emphasis added).

MORALES' attempt at having this Court determine issues which were not presented to the trial court should be soundly rejected.

DeMendoza v. Southeast Bank, N.A., 16 F.L.W. D2279 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991); Clark v. Department of Professional Regulation, 463 So.2d 328 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985); Patterson v. Weathers, 476 So.2d 1294 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985).

[I]t is axiomatic that it is the function of the appellate court to review errors allegedly committed by trial courts, not to entertain for the first time on appeal issues which the complaining party could have, and should have, but did not, present to the trial court. Abrams v. Paul, 453 So.2d 826, 827 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984).

Therefore, RESPONDENTS present Point III of this Brief in an abundance of caution.

RESPONDENTS DID NOT WAIVE THEIR RIGHT TO SEEK A RULE 1.070(j) DISMISSAL.²³

RESPONDENTS did not waive their right to seek a Rule 1.070(j) Astra v. Colt Industries Operating Corp., 452 So.2d dismissal. 1031 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984). On January 18, 1990, RESPONDENTS timely served their Motion to Dismiss, raising lack of jurisdiction over their persons. On January 23 and 25, 1990, RESPONDENT, UNISYS CORPORATION, alone, propounded discovery, consisting of a request to produce and interrogatories, on MORALES. On January 31, 1990. RESPONDENTS served a Supplement to their Motion to Dismiss, setting forth the propriety of a dismissal pursuant to Rule 1.070(i).24 The Supplement was served prior to any court hearing being held on RESPONDENTS' original Motion to Dismiss, and prior to MORALES filing any response thereto. RESPONDENTS did not file an Answer prior to filing their Supplement to Motion to Dismiss. 25 MORALES did not respond to the discovery prior to the supplemental motion to dismiss being filed.

However, in none of them do we have the present scenario, i.e. an initial motion filed without asserting the jurisdictional question but amending the motion to raise that question before the motion is heard. In this case, prior to the motion's being heard, Astra tried to amend the motion to raise the jurisdictional question so that

²³MORALES first argued a possible waiver by RESPONDENTS, before the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

²⁴As do other amended pleadings, the supplemental motion to dismiss would "relate back" to the date the original motion was filed.

 $^{^{25}}$ Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.190 allows a pleading to be amended, as a matter of right, within 20 days of service. The supplement was filed 13 days after the original motion.

when it was heard by the court, the motion asserted the jurisdictional defect. It seems to us hypertechnical to suggest that it was waived and we hold that under the facts of this case the question was not waived. <u>Id</u>. at 1032.

MORALES' counsel never raised the alleged untimeliness of the Supplemental Motion to Dismiss. In fact, he filed his Affidavit of "good cause" in response thereto, some 30 days later.

MORALES further argues that by RESPONDENT, UNISYS CORPORATION'S, propounding discovery, UNISYS CORPORATION waived the right to seek a Rule 1.070(j) dismissal.²⁶ MORALES cites to various cases which state that <u>if a party takes affirmative action</u>, prior to presenting an objection to the jurisdiction of the court, the jurisdictional inadequacy is waived.²⁷

However, MORALES has overlooked one very important factor -- a defendant's propounding discovery is not an <u>affirmative</u> action. Public Gas Co. v. Weatherhead Co., 409 So.2d 1026 (Fla. 1982); <u>Dimino v. Farina</u>, 16 F.L.W. D7 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990). Clearly, this is defensive action.

The only RESPONDENT propounding discovery was UNISYS CORPORATION. The other RESPONDENTS, propounded no discovery whatsoever. MORALES further contends that UNISYS CORPORATION'S propounding discovery, after filing its Motion to Dismiss, not only waived UNISYS CORPORATION'S right to seek a dismissal pursuant to Rule 1.070(j), but also waived the remaining RESPONDENTS' similar

²⁶Once again, this argument was never presented to the trial court and must be deemed waived.

 $^{^{27}}$ In the original Motion to Dismiss, filed before discovery was propounded, RESPONDENTS \underline{did} raise lack of personal jurisdiction.

right. MORALES "justifies" this total waiver theory on the ground that all RESPONDENTS were represented by the same counsel.

Of course, MORALES cites no authority for this rather extraordinary proposition. It is respectfully submitted that not only did the discovery propounded by UNISYS CORPORATION not waive its right to seek the subject dismissal, the rights of the remaining RESPONDENTS' were likewise not waived. If in fact MORALES' anomalous contention that the discovery propounded by UNISYS CORPORATIONS waived its right to seek a Rule 1.070(j) dismissal, MORALES' twisted logic could not possibly be extended to the remaining RESPONDENTS. MORALES' "intertwining" of RESPONDENTS, is more suggestive of fiction, than fact.

IV.

A RULE 1.070(j) DISMISSAL IS NOT PRECLUDED WHERE SERVICE IS EFFECTED AFTER THE 120-DAY PERIOD, <u>I.E.</u>, THE FOURTH DISTRICT <u>MORALES</u> DECISION VERSUS THE THIRD DISTRICT BERDEAUX DECISION.

It is respectfully submitted that the Fourth District in its Morales decision gave Rule 1.070(j) an interpretation consistent with the Rule's express provisions. The Fifth District Court of Appeal, in Partin v. Flagler Hospital, 16 F.L.W. D1608 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), found the Morales decision, not the Third District's Berdeaux decision, to be the correct view. The Fifth District held that the purpose of the Rule would be "frustrated" under the Third District's interpretation.

It is respectfully submitted that the Third District's decisions can, in no way, be reconciled with Rule 1.070(j)'s explicit provisions. The Third District Court of Appeal began its

erosion of Rule 1.070(j) in <u>Berdeaux</u> by ignoring the 120 day and good cause requirements, prohibiting a dismissal where service, no matter how untimely, is effected prior to a motion to dismiss being filed by the defendant. In effect, the Third District equated service, no matter how untimely, with the good cause requirement of the Rule. It is noteworthy that the Third District, in <u>Berdeaux</u>, did not even address the issue of "good cause."

Berdeaux results in several illogical and ill-conceived conclusions. First, a defendant must somehow file a motion to dismiss, without ever having been served. In order for this clairvoyant defendant to be able to file his motion, he, along with every other potential defendant, must check every courthouse in the State of Florida, everyday, to see if a lawsuit had been filed, so that 120 days can be calendared to file the motion to dismiss. Berdeaux would allow dismissals only to those defendants who have enough foresight to somehow know they've been sued, before being served. Clearly, Berdeaux undermines the intent of Rule 1.070(j).

Second, defendants, in order to avail themselves of a dismissal under Rule 1.070(j), must appear before the Court to file a motion to dismiss, without ever having been served with process. Rule 1.070(j) was promulgated to require plaintiffs to effect service within 120 days, presumably to move cases along and not congest the court systems with unprosecuted complaints. Patently, the purpose of Rule 1.070(j) is not to provide an alternative means of obtaining personal jurisdiction over a defendant, which is the result of Berdeaux, rather than "burdening" plaintiffs with the obligation of service, burdens the

unserved defendant with the obligation of appearing. An illogical, if not entirely absurd result.

Third, since special appearances are not allowed, a defendant would be required to file a motion to dismiss setting forth all the grounds for dismissal of the plaintiff's action, or have them deemed waived. Thus, the defendant is put in a position of defending an action without ever having been served. Clearly, Rule 1.070(j) was promulgated to ensure a plaintiff's effecting service in a timely manner, not as an alternative to service of process.

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